
 1 

OFFICE OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS 
Peterborough, New Hampshire 

 
CONTOOCOOK VALLEY SCHOOL BOARD 

 
Tuesday, November 28, 2006 

ConVal High School 
7 p.m. 

 
MINUTES 

 
Board         Administration 
Mary Allen, Beverly Bacon,     Keith Burke, Supt. 
Stewart Brock, Ray Cote,      Paul Bartolomucci, Asst. Supt. 
Gail Cromwell, Butch Estey,     Marian Alese, B.A. 
Bart Goodeve, Christy Greene,      Linda Potter, SpEd. 
Dan Harper, Craig Hicks,      Chet Bowles, CVHS 
Arthur Knight, Bill McKinnon,     Sue Copley, PES 
Tom Welden        Sue Dell, CVHS 
         Dick Dunning, SMS 
Beth SanMartino, CVEA      Tim Iwanowicz, GES 
Emmy Callahan, CVHS Student Rep.    Deb Lesure, AES 
         Nikki McGettigan, TES 
         MaryEllen Stanley, FES 
 
1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance  
Tom Welden called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m.  The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 
  
2.  Minutes (Board Vote Required) 

a. November 7, 2006 (Pg. 1-29) 
Gail Cromwell moved to accept the minutes of the November 7, 2006 meeting.  Craig Hicks 
second.  Bart Goodeve abstained.  All else were in favor. 
 
3. Public Comment 
None. 
 
4.  SuperintendentÕs Report and Presentation of Business 

a. Request to Accept Donation (Board Vote Required) (Pg. 30-31) 
1.  Dublin Consolidated School has received from Lou King a donation of shrubs and soil 

valued at $695.98 for the purpose of creating a new garden to beautify the grounds 
2.  Francestown Elementary School has received from Harriet Ford a donation of a 

printer, cartridges and cd’s valued at $125 for the purpose of printing children’s 
stories and pictures 

 
Keith Burke read the donations listed above.   
Butch Estey moved to accept the donations as listed.  Beverly Bacon second.   
Unanimous. 
 
 
 
 



 2 

 
Five high school students were present this evening and introduced themselves by singing a 
German song.  They then invited everyone down to the foreign language lab.  Board members 
went down to tour the language lab and take a foreign language quiz.   
Sue Dell said that the lab makes a tremendous difference in allowing students to be more fluent.   
 

b. No School Procedures (Pg. 32) 
Keith said that the procedures for canceling school are provided in tonight’s packet.  The decision 
is a combined effort by the bus company and the road agents.  We make the best decision with the 
information available at the time.   
 

c. Incident Report (Pg. 33) 
Reported incidents of bullying by school by month are included in tonight’s packet. Information for 
September and October is listed. 
 

d. Monthly Events Calendar (Pg. 34) 
A School Board meeting for December 5, 2006 was added to the calendar enclosed.  In addition, 
Personnel will meet on December 11, 2006 and Budget & Property will meet on December 12, 
2006. 
 
Student Ð Emmy Callahan, CVHS Student Board Rep, reported that 45 advisories collected food 
to create Thanksgiving food baskets.  In addition, the first girl’s basketball game is tonight.  Lastly, 
ConVal will have a drama production on December 7, 8, and 9 in the Lucy Hurlin Theatre.   

 
5.  Old Business 

a. High School Graduation Credit Report (Available at Meeting) 
Keith said that the final report had been emailed about differentiated diplomas.  Tonight Keith 
provided his suggestions.  He suggested we accept the report as presented with the following 
recommendations:  (See Attachment #1) 
Legal considerations were added.  In addition, the 20 credit minimum changed to a 23 credit 
minimum because of what Keith believed was the minimum credit intent by the State.  If you look 
at the minimum amount of credits for a seven period day, 20 credits equates to 22.8 credits in a 
block schedule.  In addition, a comprehensive planning process should be established for all 
students when planning out their high school career.  Recognition for academic achievement 
would be indicated for obtaining additional credit in specific areas and noted on a student’s 
diploma.  Keith also recommended that the block schedule be re-examined.  Credit would continue 
to be earned for on-line courses, internships, athletics etc.  Lastly, CVHS would develop a 
competency-based transcript for all students that accurately reflect the level and method of student 
competency acquisition.   
A cost analysis – twenty credit diploma was provided in his handout. 
Gail Cromwell asked for more detail on Keith’s proposal of a 23 credit diploma.  Gail distributed a 
listing of the credit requirements for NH High schools. (See Attachment #2)   
Keith said that he set up a proportion.  If you look at a typical 7 period day.  Over a four year period 
the maximum number of credits a student could accumulate was 28.  With block scheduling a 
student could accumulate 32 credits.  The state suggests 20 credits.  28 is to 32 as 20 is to X.  
Solving for X provides us with 23 credits.   
CVHS currently has 26 credits.  20 credits was suggested as the basis.  Examining it from a legal 
standpoint, if we establish it at 20 then it is 20 for everyone.  Keith feels that we should maximize 
the students experience and not minimize it.  He recognizes that balance is needed.  Earning 23 
credits would allow a student to earn a diploma.  Keith said that we should encourage students to 
maximize the experience and offer a differentiated diploma. 
Bart Goodeve said that the legal standpoint would be the same for everyone.  He asked what it  
 



 3 

 
was we are trying to achieve.  The report sounds like we are trying to weed out students who are 
not trying to follow the four year plan.  Keith said that he thinks that the committee made a 
recommendation.  The bar may need to be lowered for a number of reasons.  He feels that it is 
important to encourage students to strive by accumulating as many credits as they feel are  
appropriate.  Keith said that the point is that in the end, the students will have a diploma that is 
more meaningful.   
Craig said that we should be focused on having 20 competent credits than 26 credits with some 
D’s.  He does not feel that it is lowering the bar.  We want a better product.   
Bart asked how we justify dropping the foreign language credit.  Keith said that foreign language 
credit is not a requirement for a diploma.   
Craig said that he would rather have a class full of students who want to take a course than 
students who are filling up space in their schedule.   
Bart asked what we were trying to accomplish tonight.  Tom Welden said that we need to spend 
time talking about it and not come to quick conclusions.  If a student’s desire is to go to a four year 
college then the college requirement will drive a student to get the credit.  Some students will 
pursue building trades and automotive.  Tom said that Keith’s point to re-examine the block 
scheduling is a good suggestion.   
Keith said that the expectation of the Board tonight was to hear Keith’s recommendations that were 
promised for tonight.  If anyone has specific questions on his recommendations or the report then 
tonight would be the time to do that. 
Stewart Brock said that he also had concern that we were going in the wrong direction.  He feels 
that we should keep the bar high.  What difference would 23 credits vs. 26 credits be?  What is the 
advantage or disadvantage?  This would help him make a better decision. 
Sue Dell said that the committee has not had a chance to discuss what the response would be to 
Keith’s suggestions.  When the report was given from the committee it was believed to be the best 
recommendation that could be given.  It is difficult to make a statement at this time.   
Sue said that we tried to do two very different things.  Twenty-three strikes her as a compromise 
that might not be worth making.   
Joe Hayes said that the primary target population were the students who were leaving by dropping 
out or using the ADP route.  The 20 credits is a higher standard for our undereducated population.  
It was designed to enhance and increase the education being sought by that population.  Bringing 
the bottom up a bit and assuring the community that certain things were being taught to these 
students was appealing.   
Keith said that when he looked at the report, he understood what the goal was with the 20 credit 
minimum but he felt that it could backfire.  Keith said that he had the advantage of building his 
recommendation on the committee report. 
Joe Hayes said that we have a 10% cumulative drop out rate.  There are students who get an ADP 
diploma that is not regulated.  20 – 32 students graduate ADP per year.  Joe said that there are 
students who claw there way to 26 credits and fill seats.   
Bart asked if we adopted the lower credit requirement would the loop hole still exist.   
Joe Hayes said that the loop hole would be shut down.  The goal was to get the students to a 
credit count that allowed them to meet the state standard.   
Craig said that he did not feel that someone had to do too much justification with 20 credits when 
they wanted to go to community or technical schools.  The more kids we can get that are 
competent with basic educational skills will allow these students to get into those types of schools.   
Christy commented that she is hugely disappointed that at the eleventh hour we look into the legal 
process.  Before we go through another process similar to this again, she hoped that we looked at 
the legal piece at the beginning. 
Keith said that it is impossible to look at the legal piece when you don’t know what the result is 
going to be.  He is unsure how we would get a legal opinion on something we did not know what 
the result would be. 



 4 

   
Christy said that the credit question was asked of the public in February.  She regrets this. 
Keith said that it does not diminish the work of the public or the committee.  If they establish a 20 
credit diploma it wouldn’t stop everyone from doing that. 
Tom Welden said that he has a problem that hurdles exist with the 20 credit diploma.  If we have 
the quality in place and a student earns the credit required and the student was competent, why 
would we care?  A threshold high enough to earn competency would be required.  Tom asked 
what merits a competency.  Can we set standards?  Joe Hayes said that we are in a culture that is 
indoctrinated in the use of grades.  There might be two types of scales needed to determine 
competencies.   
Tom Welden said that according to the list Gail provided, some of the best high schools in the state 
have lower credit requirements.  
Gail said that there is a belief to improve the high schools in our state; we have to teach things that 
are more relevant.  If we could give more flexibility in the schedule design for a student by requiring 
fewer credits, a benefit could be seen.  The burden would shift to the student to study things that 
they are interested in.  We could create a climate where students would want to stay in the 
schools.   
Bart said that his concern is the students in the middle.  They will need an awful lot of instruction 
about their decisions early on.  Admissions rank very heavily the sequence and quality of courses 
taken.   
Gail said that it is important to realize that we have to do more in the middle schools.  We have to 
teach kids what a college education looks like.   
Stewart said that competencies and quality are important per course.  That should be the focus 
and the bar should be raised.  The types of classes should be woven in.  This should be the driver.   
Keith thanked Bart for his support of recommendation number three and Gail for her support of 
number three as well.   
Gail asked if we assume that this would not start for four more years, that if we lowered the credit 
requirements, we could actually start next year.  Gail asked why wait.  The reply was because the 
students are already in the building.  Their course selections have been made. 
Bob Marshall said that he would like to step to the macro level.  With a 26 credit requirement we 
lack the resources to deliver four full years of a public education.  The difference between the 14 
year old that enters and the 18 year old that leaves is amazing.  Stories of those who have 
waddled their way through and found the way to graduate exist.  He asked where public education 
is going and where is that addressed here.  How does this proposal speak to this issue?   
Keith said that one place we are going is to a more competency based program.  Alternative 
mechanisms for credit acquisition will be offered.  We want to provide a richer program within the 
same or less resources.   
Christy said that she has found in public education that if we blink it will change.  We use the whole 
community when coming up with our recommendations.  We need to decide what we want that to 
look like in our neck of the woods.   
Craig said that we have agreed to discuss block scheduling to determine if it works. 
Stewart asked if any other district has gone from a higher credit requirement to a lower credit 
requirement.  It would be a good resource.  Sue Dell said that it is not common.   
Mary Allen asked if any other districts are considering a dual differentiated diploma.  Keith said that 
he believed that there were.  
Tom Welden said that this discussion will be brought back on December 19, 2006.         
   

b. Report on Trust Funds Ð B. Goodeve 
Bart Goodeve distributed a report on the trust funds. (See Attachment #3)  Concern was 
expressed about the status of our trust funds in light of a comment in the Peterborough Town 
Reports.  Most of our funds are held by Charter Trust in trust accounts.  Charter Trust did not  



 5 

return his call.  The funds listed that are administered by the Town of Dublin are unknown.  Of 
these funds, it is unknown what the exact titles are and if they have the proper enabling 
documents.  The documents are not all in one place.  Purposes of the scholarship are listed.  The 
historical record of these funds is looked at by auditors every year.  If we were to change the 
investment management of these funds, it would be a big deal.  Keith Burke did not think that we 
could change the management of these funds.  Bart said that the auditors should understand the 
language and interpret this.  Bart felt that the status of the funds were clear enough with the 
exception of the absent documents.   
Gail Cromwell said that the special ed and capital reserve funds are of interest to her.  She said 
that the building capital reserve was thought to be higher.  Marian Alese said that we spent some 
of the money on the roofs.  Gail asked how that money could be spent without a special meeting.  
Marian said that a meeting was not necessary at that time. 
Gail said that her concern is what we know about how they manage these funds.  Gail asked what 
the rate of return is.  Keith said that it is 2.7%.  Gail asked if we get any benefit from having the 
capital reserve fund held at Citizen’s Bank.  Keith said that the town of Peterborough decides 
how it will be spent.  Gail asked where the sports fund was.  Marian said that it totals less than 
$1,500.00.  Bart said that there are other funds that benefit students of the ConVal District.  They 
are not us.      
 

c. Technology Plan (Sent with Education Comm. Agenda) 
Keith said that the technology plan was reviewed.  He has extracted the costs of each strategy 
under the objectives.  He includes a spreadsheet which is one possible configuration on how we 
provide staff with a computer.  Keith wanted to point out that the additional technology position was 
not the charge of the committee to look at.  It is contained in the report but is not costed.  On page 
7 and 16 it is listed.  Changes have not been made to the phasing.   
Stewart asked if the estimated costs were included in the budget.  Keith said that it was included in 
the $100,000 proposed budget.  In addition, we are currently applying for grants for initiatives for 
laptops for teachers.  It may accelerate the process.  
Gail asked about the computers that teachers currently have.  Keith said that all Special Ed 
teachers have laptops purchased by the district.  Of the computers that teachers have, five are 
personally owned.  Gail asked if there was an equity problem between those that already own their 
own and those that we will provide one.  Keith said that we did not count the personally owned 
computers in our count.  Keith went to every school and talked to every principal to arrive at a 
count of how many teachers can call a computer their own without sharing.   
The counts of the number of teachers that needed computers were provided.   
Gail asked what the expectation is for teachers providing their own equipment.  She asked if we 
could subsidize the computer and the staff would truly own the computer versus us providing them 
with one.  A computer is something that they should bring to the job.   
Dan Harper said that we should supply the teachers with computers.  He asked if we were talking 
about laptops or desktops.  Keith said that he priced it out both ways.  To meet the numbers he 
proposed that a mixture might be required.   
Tom said that this would be brought back to the Budget & Property meeting on December 12th.  He 
asked Beth SanMartino to find out what the teachers were interested in.   
Stewart asked that the Technology Plan 2006 – 2009 Budget Estimates dated November 28, 2006 
be posted to the website.  Keith said that the technology plan has been altered to reflect the 
document provided tonight.  Stewart asked that it be posted to both the district and board site.   
Stewart Brock distributed a draft of the School Board Report card. (See Attachment #5)  It is the 
final version of the School Board Report card.  He thanked everyone for their input.  Not everyone 
will agree with everything.  Everyone will be asked to fill it out and rate ourselves in March.  He 
hopes it is a good tool that can be used to measure ourselves. 
 
   



 6 

Stewart Brock motioned to accept this document as a term of measurement.  Craig Hicks 
second.  Unanimous 
Tom Welden thanked Stewart for his efforts.   
 
Dan Harper said that the nominations from the last Personnel meeting had not been brought 
forward for some of the positions.   
A nomination for CVHS athletics, GBS athletics, SMS athletics that have been approved by the 
Personnel committee.   
Dan Harper motioned to approve the nominations brought forward from the last Personnel 
meeting.  Stewart Brock second.  Butch Estey abstained.  All else in favor.   
 
 
6.  New Business 
None. 
 
Christy made a reminder that she had asked for guidelines to be drawn up to determine what 
would be added to the website.   
 
 
7.  Approval of Manifests (Board Vote Required) 
Marian certified that manifests 52, 53, 54, 55, 56 and 57 totaling $913,635.02 and Payroll #10 and 
11 totaling $1,793,774.70 as well as Sub Run 111, 112, and 113 totaling $15,440.96 have been 
reviewed by me and found to be proper charges against the Contoocook Valley School District for 
goods and/or services received and have been properly processed prior to their submittal to the 
School Board. 
Craig Hicks motioned to accept the approval of the manifests as read.  Stewart Brock 
second.  Unanimous. 
 
  
8. Non-Public Session:  RSA 91-A:3,IIc 

Dan Harper motioned to enter non-public session at 9:24 p.m. for the purpose of 
discussing a personnel matter.  Unanimous.   
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Marschok 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


